70529-6

70529-6

70529-6-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION I

BRIAN LONG,
Appellant

v.

BRUSCO TUG & BARGE, INC., a Washington Corporation; BO
BRUSCO and his marital community,
Respondents

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THE BLANKENSHIP LAW FIRM, P.S.
Scott C. G. Blankenship, WSBA No. 21431
Nazik S. H. Youssef, WSBA No. 39762
1000 Second Avenue, Suite 3250
Seattle, Washington 98104
Telephone: (206) 343-2700
Attorneys for Appellant

8

I. INTRODUCTION

This case is before this Court due to highly prejudicial errors committed by the trial court, including denying plaintiff Brian Long (“Long”) a new trial based on juror misconduct, excluding key evidence that was per se admissible under ER 904, failing to allow Long to impeach a material witness with prior inconsistent statements, and excluding highly probative comparator information.

Defendants Brusco Tug & Barge (“BTB”) and CEO Bo Brusco (“CEO Brusco”)¹ fired Long – a fourteen year employee with an exemplary performance history – shortly after Long opposed the disability discrimination of a co-worker, Anthony Morgan (“Morgan”). At the time of his firing, Long served as BTB’s Port Manager at the Port of Everett (“POE”) and was charged with captaining tugs for ship assists, as well as coordinating tug coverage for incoming and outgoing ships.

Believing he was qualified for the job, Long selected Morgan to be a deckhand despite Morgan having a prosthetic leg. When BTB discovered Morgan’s disability, Long was directed to fire Morgan. Long opposed BTB’s discrimination. After Morgan initiated a lawsuit against BTB, Long was retaliated against and ultimately fired. He filed suit for

¹ This appeal is against both defendants. Because CEO Brusco was a key decision-maker in the actions leading to Long’s lawsuit, throughout this brief, Long refers to defendants, collectively, as “BTB.”

unlawful retaliation in violation of the Washington Law Against Discrimination (“WLAD”). This was the only claim before the jury.

At trial, BTB alleged that Long was not fired, but was removed from his position at the POE for allegedly failing to provide tug coverage for a Westwood Shipping vessel. Long attempted to introduce a Westwood Shipping document showing that the acting port manager failed to notify Long that the ship’s schedule was delayed by eight hours and that Long was not at fault. The trial court erroneously excluded the document despite it being automatically admissible under ER 904. Compounding this legal error, the court then failed to allow Long to impeach a witness with a prior inconsistent statement confirming that Long had arranged for tug coverage. Exclusion of this evidence substantially prejudiced Long as it refuted BTB’s alleged non-retaliatory reason for firing him.

Further preventing Long from having a fair trial, the trial court excluded critical evidence that proved that BTB treated similarly situated employees more favorably than Long despite the employees committing serious misconduct, including missing ship jobs. As the evidence provided a basis for inferring retaliatory motive and undermined BTB’s purported reason for firing Long, the trial court’s error was not harmless.

After a verdict was entered, Long discovered juror misconduct. A juror had tainted deliberations through the injection of extraneous

evidence and law. The juror – who purported to be an expert in maritime laws – falsely stated that “no law” would allow Morgan to work on a boat and that Long violated the law in his hiring of someone with a prosthetic leg. However, the legality of Morgan’s hiring was not at issue in the case.

Notably, the seed for the juror’s misconduct had been planted by BTB over Long’s objections. In its opening statement, defense counsel improperly notified the jury that Morgan could not work on a tug boat under “Coast Guard regulation” and that Long’s hiring of Morgan violated the law. The court failed to sustain Long’s objections or provide his requested curative instruction despite the legality of Morgan’s hiring not being at issue.

The extraneous evidence and law injected by the juror related directly to Long’s retaliation claim and were highly prejudicial. If the jury believed Long violated the law by hiring Morgan, a jury would not be compelled to find that it was unlawful for BTB to remove Long from the POE for opposing BTB’s decision to fire Morgan. Likewise, if the jury believed that Morgan could have never been a deckhand for BTB under the law, a jury would not be compelled to find that Long was reasonable in believing that BTB discriminated against Morgan.

Because the juror engaged in textbook misconduct that was highly prejudicial to Long, Long moved for a new trial. A new trial must be granted unless it can be concluded beyond a reasonable doubt that extrinsic

evidence did not contribute to the verdict. Yet, without concluding beyond a reasonable doubt that the verdict was not affected, the trial court ruled that the jury was unaffected by the extrinsic evidence. This, along with the trial court's other rulings discussed herein, constitutes reversible error.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. Assignments of Error

1. The trial court erred in denying Long's Motion for a Mistrial / New Trial based on jury misconduct involving the use of extraneous evidence and law during deliberations inferring that Long violated the law. *The trial court's order is attached as Appendix A.*

2. The trial court erred in denying Long the opportunity to introduce evidence (Westwood Notes) proving that Long was not informed that the ship assist resulting in his transfer / firing was rescheduled, and thus refuting BTB's alleged legitimate non-retaliatory reason for firing Long. *The Westwood Notes are attached as Appendix B.*

3. The trial court erred in denying Long the opportunity to impeach witness, J.C. Anderson, with a prior inconsistent taped statement proving that Anderson represented he was available and qualified to cover the ship assist resulting in Long's transfer / firing. *The recorded statement is attached as Appendix C.*

4. The trial court erred in denying Long the opportunity to introduce evidence of disparate treatment showing that BTB treated similarly situated employees (“comparators”) more favorably than Long, who did *not* engage in protected activity, and who were accused of similar or worse offenses than what Long was accused of.

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Is it juror misconduct where a juror introduces specialized extrinsic evidence, brought from the outside, into deliberations, which was not admitted at trial and which includes outside notes, statistics, and erroneous statements of law? (*Assignment of Error 1*)

2. Did the trial court err in ruling that the extrinsic evidence that included outside notes, statistics, and erroneous statements of law did not affect the verdict when the evidence related directly to, and undermined, essential elements of Long’s retaliation claim? (*Assignment of Error 1*)

3. Did the trial court err in failing to resolve any reasonable doubt that the misconduct affected the verdict against the verdict? (*Assignment of Error 1*)

4. Did the trial court err in excluding the Westwood Notes based on a waived foundation objection when BTB withdrew its only timely objections to Long’s ER 904 submission and stipulated that the

document fell under the business records exception, thus creating an “expectation of admissibility”? (*Assignment of Error 2*)

5. Is it unfairly prejudicial to exclude non-cumulative, highly probative evidence that helps Long rebut BTB’s alleged legitimate non-retaliatory reason for Long’s firing when the Westwood Notes were authentic and admissible under ER 904? (*Assignment of Error 2*)

6. Is it unfairly prejudicial to prevent Long from impeaching a material witness with a prior inconsistent statement when the statement is proper impeachment under ER 607 and 613? (*Assignment of Error 3*)

7. Is it unfairly prejudicial to exclude comparator evidence that is powerful circumstantial evidence for inferring retaliatory motive? (*Assignment of Error 4*)

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Brian Long Was Retaliatorily Fired from Brusco Tug & Barge.

1. Long was a 14 Year Employee with No Prior Discipline.

Defendant BTB provides cargo barging and towboat services at ports (Onshore Division) and at sea (Ocean Division). RP 313; 1298-99; 1520. Long began working for BTB in 1995 as a deckhand in the Ocean Division. RP 938-41. Long worked his way up to becoming an ocean captain. RP 940-44. After spending years out at sea, Long made it known to BTB that he could no longer be away from his family. RP 944-49; 961;

780-81. As such, in 2007, Long accepted a lesser paying position at the POE as a ship assist captain. RP 958-61; 1514-17.

Long was soon promoted to Port Manager in April 2009. RP 969-70; 1546. Ship Assist Captain John Juker was second-in-command at the POE, reporting to Long (“Captain Juker”). RP 2020. Port Captain Kevin Campbell acted as Long’s direct supervisor (“Supervisor Campbell”). RP 1061; 1476-77. Long was a strong employee for BTB. RP 762-64; 845-46; 2107; 2158-83. In fourteen years of service, Long never received any discipline until after he opposed co-worker Anthony Morgan’s discriminatory firing. RP 1357-58; 1660; 1971; 2107; 2158-61.

2. Long Opposed Disability Discrimination by BTB.

In September 2009, Long initiated the process to hire Morgan as a deckhand for the POE division. RP 985-90; Ex.14. Long knew Morgan had a prosthetic leg below the knee, but based on Morgan’s resume and experience, believed Morgan was qualified. RP 986-88; 2170. Morgan was tried out by Long and received safety training on September 14, 2009. RP 989-92; 1041-42; Ex.13. Morgan performed well. RP 770-76; 991-92; 999-1004. Morgan then received a physical and a drug test and disclosed that he had a prosthetic leg and took Percocet as needed for leg pain. RP 988-91; 1042-43; 2176-79; Ex. 15. The report indicated that Morgan needed an additional physical. Ex. 15.

When BTB management learned of Morgan's prosthetic, it began discriminating. Long was told by Human Resources Manager Lauri Sabo ("HR Sabo") that according to Supervisor Campbell, "[BTB] can't hire someone with a prosthetic leg." Ex. 16; RP 993-94. Long was chastised for hiring a "physically impaired deckhand." Ex. 26; RP 1051-52.

Long complained to HR Sabo and others that BTB was discriminating. RP 429-34; 993-95; 1057-60; Ex. 26. CEO Brusco and HR Sabo obtained legal advice and Long was directed to keep Morgan "aboard" because "if [BTB] let[s] him go for no good reason now that he is actually working, we could open ourselves up for a lawsuit under the 'Americans with Disabilities act (sic).'" Ex. 22; RP 439-42. Accordingly, on September 15, Morgan was cleared by BTB management to work on a tug. He performed well. Ex. 22; RP 441-45; 775-76; 995-1004.

Long asked HR when Morgan would have his second physical. Ex. 33. HR relayed that CEO Brusco "just doesn't want to use him period." *Id.* Brusco's discriminatory animus was reiterated by Campbell: "I understand that we are not going use the prosthetic leg guy." Ex. 43. Long was told to fire Morgan and lie about BTB's reason. Ex. 33; RP 1054-58.

Long again complained about the discrimination of Morgan (RP 1057-60), and refused to cover-up it up, as he was directed to, informing Morgan that BTB was not going to give him the extensive physical. RP

1063-66. Morgan then initiated a lawsuit, filing a charge with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) on September 21, 2009 for disability discrimination. RP 2201-02.

3. BTB Retaliated Against Long for His Protected Activity, Including Firing Him.

BTB received notice of Morgan’s charge around October 8, 2009. RP 876-77; 1960. The Charge directly referenced Long. RP 2201-02. CEO Brusco and Supervisor Campbell blamed Long for Morgan’s lawsuit and were “angry” with Long. RP 489-90; 523-26; 1375. Weeks later, on October 22, Long’s request for a raise was denied, with Campbell stating:

He [CEO Brusco] is so pissed about the lawsuit from your recent hire [Anthony Morgan] that I think the timing [of asking for a raise] is not right.

Ex. 47; RP 1071-73. Within two months, on December 21, 2009, BTB fired Long. RP 543; 1092-1119; Ex. 84. Long filed suit, alleging BTB unlawfully retaliated against him for opposing the discrimination of Morgan. CP 1-8. This case was tried before the Honorable William Downing in King County Superior Court. Long’s WLAD retaliation claim was the only claim before the jury. CP 1747-63.

B. The Trial Court Erred in Excluding Evidence Disproving BTB’s Alleged Reason for Firing Long.

As Port Manager, in addition to captaining tugs for ship assists, Long managed BTB’s daily operations at the POE. RP 1513. This entailed

coordinating tug coverage for incoming and outgoing ships. *Id.* Generally, ship assists require either one or two tugs. RP 1005-06; 1484-87. Each tug requires one captain and one deckhand; thus, a one-tug ship assist requires one captain and one deckhand and a two-tug ship assist requires two captains and two deckhands. RP 769-70; 2219. Ships were scheduled in advance to require either one tug or two tugs. RP 1005-06; 1484-87. It was uncommon for a ship scheduled as a one-tug to require two tugs at the last minute. RP 1005-07.

At trial, BTB alleged that it did not fire Long, but reassigned him back to the Ocean for allegedly not being available to captain a second tug for a ship assist on December 21, 2009. RP 1344-49; 1968-69.

Although it was undisputed that the December 21 ship assist was timely completed without incident, BTB testified that Long's absence nonetheless warranted removal from the POE. *Id.*; RP 1868-69; 2104-05. Long testified that Juker was in command of the ship assist on December 21 and that Acting Port Manager Juker failed to notify Long the job was rescheduled. RP 1092-1116; 2224-25. The trial court erred in excluding the only neutral evidence proving that Juker knew that the ship assist was delayed by eight hours and failed to inform Long. RP 2139-40; CP 1701.

Specifically, Long testified that on December 21, he was on vacation visiting family in Long Beach, Washington, and had arranged for

second-in-command, Juker, to serve as Acting Port Manager. RP 1092-98. Juker confirmed he was aware of Long's vacation² and that Long's work phone was being forwarded to him.³ RP 2075-76. Thus, starting on December 19, any calls from incoming ships were routed to and answered by Juker, not Long. Ex. 66 at line 83; Ex. 70 at line 102; RP 1101-02.

Only one ship was scheduled to arrive during Long's vacation – a Westwood Shipping vessel called the Sevilla. Ex. 82 at p. 5. The Sevilla was to arrive on December 21 at 4:30 a.m. and was scheduled to need only one tug to assist with its arrival. RP 1105; 1095-96; 2072-75; CP 2047. Juker would act as the captain in Long's absence. RP 1098; 2072-75.

Being cautious, Long nonetheless arranged for a backup captain in case the job changed and required two tugs. RP 1092-97; 1140-41. On December 18, Long called BTB employee J.C. Anderson.⁴ RP 680-82; 1092-97. Anderson told Long he could cover the December 21, 4:30 a.m. job if another captain was needed. *Id.*; RP 2225-26; Ex. 257A.

Unbeknownst to Long, on December 20, the arrival of the Sevilla was delayed by Westwood until 12:30 p.m. on December 21, instead of 4:30 a.m. RP 1101-07; 2224-25. A Westwood document (“Westwood

² Deckhand Craig Petit testified that he was aware Long was on vacation and that Juker was in charge. RP 787-88. Sabo testified she knew Long was on vacation. RP 533.

³ The entered phone bills also show that Long's phone was forwarded to Juker beginning on December 19. Ex. 66 at line 83; Ex. 70 at line 102.

Notes”) with the following notation confirms the schedule change, showing that John Juker received a call on December 20 at 10:24 a.m., postponing the job until 12:30 on December 21, an eight hour delay:

		1230		Brian
		0430		1523
		0630		12/18/09
Tugs	1 Tug on 12/21/09 @	0730		Brian
Brusco	going into Pacific Terminal			1515
	Port side to			12/18/09
				John
				1024
				12/20/09

CP 2047. The phone records also show that at 10:24 a.m. on December 20, an incoming phone call from Westwood Shipping was forwarded from Long’s phone to Juker’s. Ex. 66 at line 93; Ex. 70 at line 117. Long called Juker on the evening of December 20 to ensure operations were ready for the upcoming 4:30 a.m. ship assist. RP 1101-05; Ex. 70 at line 133. But Juker failed to tell Long of the eight hour delay or that the ship would not arrive until 12:30 p.m. *Id.* When Long called Juker again at 8:37 a.m. on December 21 to make sure the assist had been successfully completed at 4:30 a.m., Juker did not answer his phone. RP 1105-06; Ex. 70 at line 137.

⁴ Long received Anderson’s name and number as a relief captain from Tom Lehto, BTB’s dispatcher. RP 1760-61; 2152.

Juker did not reveal the ship's eight hour delay until Long finally reached him at 10:49 a.m. on December 21. RP 1106-07. For the first time, Juker also told Long that a second tug was needed. *Id.* Long immediately called Anderson, arranging for him to captain the second tug. RP 1109. As the job had changed from 4:30 a.m. to 12:30 p.m., Anderson was no longer available due to a dentist appointment. RP 1109-10.

Anderson confirmed that his availability changed in a voluntary taped statement provided on October 29, 2012. Ex. 257A. According to his prior statement, Anderson told Long he “would be willing to cover a second tug job if something came up, up in Everett . . .but the job got moved so [he] could no longer be available because the new time was the same time [he was] going to the dentist.” *Id.* Anderson also confirmed he was “qualified to cover those tug jobs.” *Id.* Anderson's tone was pleasant and cooperative in the recording. *Id.* At trial, however, Anderson changed his story, testifying that he was never available to cover for Long. RP 678. Without any specific objection from BTB, the court denied Long's attempt to use the recording to impeach Anderson or refresh his recollection by playing the taped statement. RP 673-674, RP 686; CP 1685. The trial court erroneously found that the supposed leading nature of the questions in the recording “transcript” constituted improper impeachment. RP 694-97.

After Anderson informed Long he was no longer available, Long attempted to make arrangements with another captain, Ken Wick, to cover the 12:30 p.m. job. RP 1110-11. Wick was available, but Juker informed Long that David Brusco, CEO Bo Brusco's son, had already committed to acting as the second captain. RP 1112-13. The job was completed on time and without incident. RP 1868-69; 2104-05. Nonetheless, at 12:28 p.m., at CEO Brusco's direction, Long was fired by Campbell for supposedly failing to arrange for tug coverage. RP 916-17; 1115-21; 1591-92; Ex. 101; Ex. 68 at line 150. Had Juker done his job and told Long on December 20 at 10:34 a.m. that the ship had been delayed by eight hours, Long could have arranged for a back-up captain for the correct time or even driven back to Everett to cover if needed. RP 2225-26.

At trial, through testimony and in argument, BTB argued that Long "rolled the dice" and knowingly failed to have coverage for the 12:30 p.m. job. RP 351-52; 374; 1344-45; 2018-20; Ex. 97. Long attempted to use the Westwood Documents (Ex. 80), which include the Notes to prove that Juker, not Long, had been notified that the schedule changed. RP 2076-84. Long timely designated the Westwood Documents from Westwood Shipping in his ER 904 submissions, but as memorialized in the Parties' Joint Statement of Evidence, BTB objected to the documents on the grounds of "Hearsay, ER 801, 802, Authentication ER 901." CP 1230.

As such, Long subpoenaed a records custodian from Westwood to authenticate the Westwood documents.⁵ CP 1723-27. BTB represented to the trial court that a records custodian was not necessary, stating that “the records of Westwood Shipping that the plaintiff sought to introduce were met with no objection on authenticity on our part,” and that “the only issue” was that Long “offered not all of the documents that Westwood provided but left out an invoice.” RP 1736-39. BTB also stipulated that the Westwood Documents fell under the business records exception to the hearsay rule. RP 1736-39; CP 1697. After BTB withdrew all objections to Long’s ER 904 submission of the Westwood Documents, Long withdrew his subpoena to the records custodian. RP 1736-39.

Later, Juker denied being told by Westwood on December 20 at 10:24 a.m. that the Sevilla would be rescheduled and Long tried to use the Westwood Notes for impeachment. RP 2076. The trial court admitted the full exhibit (Ex. 80). RP 2076. When Long then attempted to impeach Juker with the Notes, BTB objected, stating “there’s no foundation.” RP 2077. The trial court ruled that the Notes would not be admitted. RP 2076-85. Long objected and made an offer of proof. RP 2126-40; CP 1701. BTB

⁵ The parties’ Joint Statement of Evidence also listed records custodians for documents produced by Westwood Shipping Lines and other individuals at Westwood Shipping Lines who may have knowledge surrounding the events relating to the Sevilla’s arrival from the POE on December 21, 2009 as potential witnesses. CP 1213.

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