### NO. 70529-6-I

### COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

### BRIAN LONG,

Appellant,

v.

BRUSCO TUG & BARGE, INC., a Washington corporation; BO BRUSCO and his marital community,

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

In this case, the jury declarations contain precisely those aspects that inhere in the verdict: the status of jury deliberations at certain points in time, arguably implying a *post-hoc-ergo-propter-hoc* change in view point (CP 1780, 1782, and 1784); some jurors' thoughts and feelings regarding deliberations and the desire to review notes and exhibits (CP 1781–82, 1784–86, and 1791); thoughts and feelings about Wlaschin's comments during deliberations, including the tenor and force of his argument (CP 1781, 1784–85, 1788, and 1791); partial summaries of what Wlaschin said, including that he was in the Navy (something that he disclosed in voir dire), the waters were rough, there were ladders and slippery decks, and that he felt that Navy/ocean/maritime law would not permit one with a prosthesis to work on deck (CP 1781, 1784, 1788–89, and 1791); juror reactions to Wlaschin's comments during deliberations (CP 1781–82, 1785, and 1791); and other issues not relevant to this

appeal. Those comments inhere in the verdict and are not evidence of misconduct or any effect upon the verdict. Similarly, the passion with which Wlaschin spoke, as well as the impressions or reactions of the jurors, inhere in the verdict and cannot be considered misconduct.

### D. Westwood Shipping handwritten notes

1. The trial court exercised discretion and properly excluded the handwritten Westwood notes, because there was no foundational witness to testify as to what they said, why they were created, or what they meant.

The trial court properly exercised its discretion and excluded the portion of the exhibit that contained handwritten Westwood notes when it was clear that there was no foundation upon which to elicit testimony. Although ER 904 can cause a document to be deemed "admissible," it does not necessarily mean that the document is to be deemed "admitted."

Under ER 904, the trial court retains its gatekeeper role to exclude evidence. And, as pertinent here, the rule specifically preserves for the time of trial *all objections as to relevancy*:

If an objection is made to a document on the basis of admissibility, the grounds shall be specifically set forth, except objection on the grounds of relevancy need not be made until trial.

WASH. R. EVID. 904(c)(2) (emphasis added); *see also Hendrickson v. King County*, 101 Wn. App. 258, 268, 2 P.3d 1006 (2000) (recognizing that "ER 904 reserves relevance objections for trial"). Irrelevant evidence "is

not admissible." WASH. R. EVID. 402.

When the relevance of evidence is not clear without more foundational testimony, the evidence's admission is subject to the necessary development of that foundation. *Cf.* WASH. R. EVID. 104(b) (providing that "When the relevancy of evidence depends upon the fulfillment of a condition of fact, the court shall admit it *upon*, or subject to, the introduction of evidence sufficient to support a finding of the fulfillment of the condition." (emphasis added)).

Washington's ER 904 was designed to "expedite the admission of documentary evidence," but its "language does not *require* the trial court to admit enumerated documents." *Miller v. Artic Alaska Fisheries*, 133 Wn.2d 250, 258–59, 944 P.2d 1005 (1997) (emphasis in original). As noted in *Miller*,

[T]he trial court may exercise its traditional discretion to address a party's evidentiary objection and admit or exclude the documentary evidence, provided that the objection to the admission of the evidence is made in accordance with the terms and time limits of ER 904.

Id. at 259.

Long relies heavily on *Miller* and *Hendrickson*, but neither opinion provides a basis for a new trial in this case.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> The *Miller* case referred to former ER 904, but as to the aforementioned citation, its force remains, because the current form of the rule also preserves all relevance objections for trial.

Contrary to Long's argument, the *Miller* case does not say and does not hold that ER 904 makes a document "per se admissible." *See* Brief of Appellant at 38 (so arguing). Moreover, in *Miller*, the objections were solely as to hearsay, and those objections were untimely. *Miller*, 133 Wn.2d at 260. Nowhere in the *Miller* case did it appear that there were any foundational conditions that needed to be satisfied to establish the documents' relevance.

The *Hendrickson* opinion is also unhelpful. The *Hendrickson* case involved claims for personal injuries, and the documents in question were medical records. *Hendrickson*, 101 Wn. App. at 259. Medical records are expressly enumerated as a type of document that can be "deemed admissible" under ER 904. *See* WASH. R. EVID. 904(a)(1).

In this case, although Long might have believed that authenticity would not be the basis for further objection, Long had no expectation (at least no reasonable expectation) that the actual content of the handwritten Westwood notes would be deemed relevant. Obviously, and as the trial court noted, a mere document custodian would not have been able to establish the conditional foundation for establishing relevance (*i.e.*, what the notes meant). Long would have had to call the author himself, and he took no steps to do so.

In the alternative, ER 904 does not apply to a third-party's

handwritten business records—the type of document at issue on this appeal. Although the trial court did not expressly exclude the handwritten notes on that basis, this court can affirm on any basis supported by the record. See, e.g., Nast v. Michels, 107 Wn.2d 300, 308, 730 P.2d 54 (1986) (citing Reed v. Streib, 65 Wn. 2d 700, 709, 399 P.2d 338 (1965)). In any event, "notes ... are not admissible as business records." Lutz Tile, Inc. v. Krech, 136 Wn. App. 899, 904, 151 P.3d 219 (2007) (holding that trial court erred in admitting an expert report under ER 904(a)(6), despite lack of timely objection by opposing party).

In *Lutz*, the Washington Court of Appeals recognized that ER 904 was limited in its scope: "... the rule seems to be intended to cover only routine documentary evidence like hospital records and photographs, and not documents that present conclusions or opinions on evidence." *Id.* at 904. "[D]ocumentary evidence is inadmissible for the purpose of proving any conclusions recorded in the documents." *Id.* (citing *Miller*, 133 Wn.2d at 260 n.4). When a document contains "subjective facts, opinions, and conclusions[,]" it is not properly admitted under ER 904, "because the parties should have a chance to cross-examine the opinions and conclusions and present alternate opinions." *Id.* It is not enough for a document to merely relate to a material fact and have guarantees of trustworthiness. *Id.* 

In this case, the fact that Long listed a document in an ER 904 designation is not enough. Although Respondents did not challenge Long's assertion that the handwritten notes were authentic business records of Westwood, they were not the kind of routine documentary evidence contemplated by the rule because, *inter alia*, their meaning and the facts allegedly contained in the notes were indecipherable. Without a witness to testify as to facts, the notes conveyed no meaning and were not relevant. The trial court was correct to decline to admit them.

Long made no attempt to call any witness who could testify as to what the handwritten notes meant. ER 904 does not divest the trial court of its gatekeeper duty to exclude irrelevant evidence, as well as unduly prejudicial, confusing, or unhelpful evidence. The trial court exercised its discretion by excluding the handwritten notes.

2. Even if it were error to exclude the handwritten notes, any such error was harmless, because they were of speculative value and Long has shown no prejudice.

A jury verdict will not be overturned for error that is harmless. An error is considered harmless and not prejudicial unless it affects the outcome of the case. *E.g.*, *Brown v. Spokane Cy. Fire Prot. Dist. No. 1*, 100 Wn.2d 188, 196, 668 P.2d 571 (1983). And exclusion of cumulative evidence is not reversible error. *Havens v. C&D Plastics, Inc.*, 124 Wn.2d 158, 169–70, 876 P.2d 435 (1994). Excluded evidence does not need to be

identical to admitted evidence in order to be cumulative. *Havens*, 124 Wn.2d at 170. Harmless error results when a trial court excludes evidence that is, in substance, the same as other admitted evidence. *Id*.

Moreover, there is no reversible error where, as here, the excluded evidence is of speculative probative value. *Id.* (citing *Henry v. Leonardo Truck Lines, Inc.*, 24 Wn. App. 643, 602 P.2d 1203 (1979); *Tumelson v. Todhunter*, 105 Wn.2d 596, 603, 716 P.2d 890 (1986); and *Moore v. Smith*, 89 Wn.2d 932, 941–42, 578 P.2d 26 (1978)).

In this case, even if it were error to exclude the handwritten portion of the Westwood exhibit, there was no harm or prejudice. Long cannot credibly say that the exclusion of the handwritten notes affected the outcome of the case. The probative value of the notes is purely speculative, given that Long did not attempt to call any witness who could testify as to what the notes actually meant.

In addition, Long managed to get what he claims is the gist of the evidence before the jury by other means: Long's counsel read the allegedly pertinent content into the record during the questioning of Juker. RP 2078–80, 2084. Long's counsel also implied through argumentative questions a correlation between the handwritten notes and phone records. RP 2080–85. Moreover, Long himself testified about the handwritten notes. RP 2224–25. And his counsel specifically mentioned them during

closing argument. RP 2311–14. Given that the typewritten records were admitted, that the information from the handwritten notes was read to the jury by Long and his counsel, and that Long argued during closing what the handwritten notes said and meant, Long has not show—and cannot show—any prejudice from the exclusion of the handwritten notes. The trial court's decision to exclude the handwritten notes, even if it were in error, was harmless.

#### E. Recorded interview of Anderson

1. The record shows that Long's counsel failed to preserve any error regarding the use of the recorded portion of a pre-trial interview with Anderson.

To obtain appellate review of a trial court's decision to exclude evidence, one must make an offer of proof. *See* WASH. R. EVID. 103(a)(2); *State v. Vargas*, 25 Wn. App. 809, 816–17, 610 P.2d 1 (1980). The appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error that was not raised in the trial court. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 685, 757 P.2d 492 (1988); RAP 2.5(a).

In this case, Long's counsel asked to use<sup>14</sup> the recorded portion of the interview, and the trial court indicated that he first needed to ask all of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Although Long never offered the recorded portion of the interview for admission, Long argues that the statement should have been admitted. *See* Brief of Appellant at 45. Long cannot now claim as error the trial court's failure to admit a document where Long never asked the court to admit it. This Court should disregard Long's argument regarding admission or exclusion of the interview.

his questions of Anderson. RP 674, 686, and 688. When Long's counsel had completed his questioning of Anderson, however, he did not again ask to utilize the recorded portion of the interview. RP 691. Instead, after Anderson had been excused as a witness, <sup>15</sup> Long's counsel inquired of the trial court's earlier rationale:

I don't necessarily, Your Honor[,] want to take issue with you on anything, but what—what—just so I know for the future, as, I mean, we're always learning, why couldn't I impeach this gentleman with his prior statement?

RP 694. Long's counsel merely asked for guidance in a way that did not remotely resemble an offer of proof. RP 696–97 (stating, *inter alia*, "And it's good for me to know, and I appreciate your—your feedback on that[,]" "Yeah[,]" and "Well, that's—I will let my office know and, thank you, Your Honor.").

Considering this record on review, Long did not properly preserve the issue for appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> This timing is important. If Long's intent was to use the recording as a prior inconsistent statement of Anderson, it would not have been admissible unless Anderson was "afforded an opportunity to explain or deny the same, and the opposite party is afforded an opportunity to interrogate him thereon[.]" WASH. R. EVID. 613(b). Because Long never attempted to offer the recording, and because Long did not raise this issue with the trial court until after Anderson had completed testifying, he could not have offered the recording under ER 613(b).

# 2. Long was not permitted to use a previously recorded partial interview of Anderson, because the substance of his testimony was not contradicted by the recording.

The trial court properly declined Long's request to utilize a prior out-of-court statement during the testimony of Anderson, because the statement could not be used for impeachment purposes. Anderson's trial testimony did not contradict the recorded portion of his pre-trial interview.

Trial courts are empowered to exercise reasonable control over the mode and order of interrogating witnesses and presenting evidence.

WASH. R. EVID. 611(a). The goal of this power is to make the interrogation and presentation effective for the ascertainment of the truth, avoid needless consumption of time, and protect witnesses from harassment or undue embarrassment. *Id*.

A party may attack the credibility of a witness through impeachment. WASH. R. EVID. 607. But a witness may not be impeached with a prior out-of-court statement unless it meets Washington's test for inconsistency. *See State v. Dickenson*, 48 Wn. App. 457, 466–67, 740 P.2d 312 (1987). That test for inconsistency has been articulated as follows:

Inconsistency is to be determined, not by individual words or phrases alone, but by the *whole impression or effect* of what has been said or done. On a comparison of the two utterances are they in effect inconsistent? Do the two expressions appear to have been produced by inconsistent beliefs?

Id. at 467 (emphasis original) (quoting 5 K. TEGLAND, WASH. PRAC. § 256 (2d ed. 1982) (quoting *Sterling v. Radford*, 126 Wash. 372, 218 P. 205 (1923))). The important consideration is whether they help the trier of fact evaluate the credibility of the witness. *United States v. Morgan*, 555 F.2d 238, 242 (9th Cir. 1977). 16

In this case, a comparison of the trial testimony and the pre-trial interview shows that the questions asked in the interview were on different topics than those asked about during trial. The interview questions were so vague and convoluted that the witness (and any reasonable reader of the transcript) obviously had a different impression of what Long's interviewer purportedly intended to ask. For example, in the interview, Anderson was asked only about his qualifications as an ocean captain, not his qualifications for Port of Everett jobs. CP 2055. In contrast, at trial, he was asked about his qualifications for Port of Everett jobs. RP 675–76,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> This case was cited favorably by the *Dickinson* court. *Dickenson*, 48 Wn. App. at 467.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Another portion of the recorded interview was so unintelligible as to be useless for impeachment or any other purpose:

PW: Oh I see, okay. So it helps kind of narrow down when, when Brian called because he called for a job that, if I understand correctly he asked if you would have potential availability to cover a job but the job got moved so you couldn't, could no longer be available because the new time was the same time you were going to the dentist, is that right?

JA: I believe that's the circumstances, yeh.

Long's interviewer chose the wording and syntax of his questions.

His choices were poor. Because his questions were vague and poorly worded, the recorded part of the interview could not be used for purposes of impeachment.

The trial court, recognizing the problems inherent in the pre-trial questioning, properly exercised discretion to control the courtroom and declined the request to utilize the recorded portion of the interview for impeachment. RP 694–97. Answers to argumentative, vague, and poorly worded questions do not create material for impeachment when they do not contradict trial testimony. It cannot be said that the trial court's ruling was an abuse of discretion.

## 3. Even if the ruling regarding the recorded portion of the interview were error, it was harmless.

Even if the trial court's ruling were to have been error, it was harmless, because the excluded evidence is of speculative probative value. *See, e.g., Havens*, 124 Wn.2d at 169–70 (holding that the erroneous exclusion of evidence of speculative probative value is no basis for reversal). The questions in the recorded portion of the interview were so poorly worded and ambiguous that it cannot be said that its use for impeachment purposes would have made any difference in the outcome of

the case.

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